Audit and Finance Committee Minutes – APPROVED January 28, 2020 – 3:30 p.m. Legislature Chambers

Present: Mack Cook, Steve Thayer, Rordan Hart, Bud Shattuck, Laura Shawley, Olivia

Hersey (arrived at 3:47 p.m.), Eric Snow, Peter Salton

Excused: Jason Cole

Staff/Guests: Elin Dowd, Executive Director; Don Barber, Consultant; Rick Snyder, Tompkins

County Deputy Finance Director; Steve Locey, Robert Spenard, Locey and Cahill; Judy Drake, Board Chair; Brittni Griep, Administrative Assistant; Michelle Cocco, Clerk of the Board; Mary Alice; Mary Alice Avery, Zia Qasim, Lauren

Mance, Wilmington Trust

Call to Order

Mr. Cook called the meeting to order at 3:32 p.m. He introduced and welcomed Eric Snow who was recently appointed to serve on the Committee.

Changes to the Agenda

There were no changes to the agenda.

Approval of Minutes of December 10, 2019

It was MOVED by Mr. Shattuck, seconded by Mrs. Shawley, and unanimously adopted by voice vote by members present, to approve the minutes of December 10, 2019 as submitted. MINUTES APPROVED.

Wilmington Trust Investment Portfolio Review

Ms. Dowd said she has been working with Wilmington Trust on a more regular basis; there has been an increased interaction and she expects the Committee will be seeing them on a more regular basis going forward.

Ms. Avery who works on the client development relationship side of Wilmington Trust and who makes sure any questions or concerns the Consortium has are addressed, introduced Zia Qasim, Portfolio Manager for the relationship and who converses with Mr. Snyder on a regular basis concerning the Portfolio. She also introduced Lauren Mance who has been added as an extra point of contact between the Consortium and Wilmington Trust.

Mr. Qasim provided the Committee with a market commentary. He explained how what is going on in the market affects the Portfolio and reviewed what has happened with the Portfolio since the last time Wilmington Trust met with the Committee. Mr. Qasim said the Federal Reserve is meeting this week and it is expected to stay within a target range of 150-175. He said they are forecasting inflation to be approximately 1.7% which is still way below the 2% that the Federal Reserve is targeting. He said many of the risks that were threatening the United States recovery last year have since abated and with no further policy stimulus the market is expected to remain in an expansion period with growth expected to be about 2%. The corporate sector has continued to out-perform making 2019 the 3rd best year of outperformance.

Mr. Qasim provided a 2019 review of the 10-year Treasury Yield and said as the Treasury curve changed throughout the year there were certain events that took place throughout the year such as relations with China beginning to falter in the spring and

Audit and Finance Committee Minutes January 28, 2020

manufacturing slowing in late June. This drove the yield to being much lower, as well as three Fed cuts in 2019 which drove rates lower. There were also some instances which raised rates at year-end including a trade deal with China. In looking forward to the market in 2020 he said the Federal Reserve expects there not to be much movement in the market. A major factor will be the election in 2020.

Mr. Qasim reviewed the Consortium's Portfolio and said there has been very good performance since inception. He referenced the Fixed Income Analysis and noted the average yield went from a 2.11% in September to 1.75% at year-end. He reviewed the annual yield on the treasury bills and the Consortium's one security treasury note and said that yield is at 1.67%. In looking at the yield curve since inception and going forward in positioning the Portfolio, there is a greater likeliness of a rate cut than a rate hike and absent any liquidities he encouraged extending the Portfolio out and locking in rates.

Ms. Hersey arrived at this time.

Ms. Avery thanked the Committee for the opportunity to work with the Consortium and said Wilmington Trust looks forward to continuing to increase communication. She invited members to ask any questions that arise from the presentation.

Mr. Snyder spoke to the Catastrophic Claims Reserve and said monies have been moved around in the Consortium's treasuries account at Tompkins Trust so that if approved today, monies can be released from cash reserves and that combined with one of the \$2 million investments that is coming due he will start the Consortium's Catastrophic Claims Reserve in an amount slightly over \$3 million. This will allow by mid-year for the remaining funds to be able to be moved so that that Reserve is fully funded.

Mr. Hart asked if this Committee were to be interested in taking on a greater risk if Wilmington Trust employs any more active trading strategies such as taking a percentage of its Portfolio to be more actively traded. Mr. Qasim said Wilmington Trust is able to accommodate any need the Consortium has and noted they have a municipal team as well. Ms. Avery said the fixed income team has about \$31 billion under management and is very capable of running multiple fixed income strategies. They manage on the equity and alternative side as well. Mr. Hart noted that the Consortium is governed by Municipal Law but if the interest rates remain volatile, he could make an argument for taking a percentage and trading around some type of a core strategy on the treasury side. Ms. Avery said they could accommodate the Consortium's needs as long as there is a clear understanding of its objectives.

In response to questions raised, Ms. Avery said they will add information to the Portfolio on the municipals.

RESOLUTION NO. – 2020 – AMENDMENT TO ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES AGREEMENT – EXCELLUS BLUE CROSS BLUE SHIELD

Ms. Dowd said since the last meeting there has been discussion with both Excellus and the Consortium's consultants about this resolution in which the Consortium is being asked to execute an amendment to its Administrative Services Contract. She noted there is no change to fees; this relates to the Blue Card service and the change of name to the Global Care. Blue Card services are accessed through BlueCross BlueShield outside of the Excellus region. When the Consortium accesses the Blue Card services it pays primarily two different fees, an access fee and a claims fee to secure the services. In addition, they are the same relationships outside the United States under the Global Care which has recently been renamed. This amendment

articulates all of the fees involved in the Blue Card which includes the value-added as well as the Global Care because sometimes those claims include both actual and estimated claims costs, and average claims costs. It has been very confusing to some participants in figuring out how they are charged. Members have been provided detailed information on how these fees will be charged going forward. She said the Consortium has the ability to track these fees which equate to less than one percent of claims expenses.

Mr. Barber said one of the new phrases is "value added" and recalled years ago when the Consortium was approached by CAP (Cayuga Area Preferred) and wanting the Consortium to front \$500,000 to help the program start up. The Consortium, as well as Cornell University and Ithaca College did not support that and CAP then came up with the Accountable Cost and Quality Arrangement (ACQA). Excellus has been keeping the Consortium updated on how these arrangements have been successful in reducing claims costs for the general population and Cayuga Medical Center. He said he originally had concerns that these arrangements are set up between Excellus and providers and the Consortium is not part of the objectives. He said there is an escape clause that says if there are any fees they will be distributed to the subscribers and he has always had concern about that.

Mr. Barber said this has shown up in this contract and now includes groups that are outside of Cayuga Medical. He asked if any value-based fees have been charged to date from Excellus. Mr. Locey said he is not aware of any; if there have been any they have been included in the claims expense. Mr. Barber recommended the Consortium communicate with Excellus that it would like to know about these fees if they come forward and that those expenses be included in the biennial medical claims audit. Ms. Dowd will communicate this to Excellus.

It was MOVED by Ms. Hersey, seconded by Mr. Thayer, and unanimously adopted by voice vote by members present.

WHEREAS, the Greater Tompkins County Municipal Health Consortium Board of Directors executed an Administrative Services Agreement with Excellus BlueCross BlueShield effective January 1, 2018, and

WHEREAS, the Agreement has been revised with updated and clearer language from the BlueCross BlueShield Association (BCBSA) to better describe the program, and

Whereas, the following outlines modifications to the Agreement:

- a better description of the manner in which Host BlueCard claims are handled;
- a revised description of BlueCard Fees including the Access Fees;
- additional language around Value-Base Payment Programs at Host Plans; and
- a description of what is now called "Global Care", which is the new name for the BCBSA Worldwide program;
- Plan claim pricing information; this requirement also included a new paragraph that the group notify the Consortium if they get acquired by another organization. The purpose of these changes is to protect Blue Plan data due to the recognition of the increasing importance of data to the health care industry; the BCBSA wants to protect confidential and proprietary Blue Plan negotiated rates from inappropriate disclosure, including to competitors;
- new language describing the fact that Excellus may employ new clinical editing-type programs and that any savings associated with the programs will be credited back to the Consortium net of its administrative expenses associated with the program.

Audit and Finance Committee Minutes January 28, 2020

now therefore be it

RESOLVED, on recommendation of the Audit and Finance Committee, That the Board of Directors authorizes the Chair of the Board to sign the revised Administrative Services Agreement with Excellus BlueCross BlueShield retroactive to January 1, 2020.

* * * * * * * *

Administrative Fees Historical Review

Ms. Dowd said as the Consortium's administrative fees continue to grow as the Consortium grows there have been questions raised as to whether the cost of adding municipalities is worthwhile. She worked with the financial team to pull together historical expenses relative to all of the administrative fees. She said while the internal and external support fees have grown from inception from \$110,000 to \$634,000 in the 2020 budget. As a percentage of total expenses for each year the Consortium has grown from .45% of total expenses to an anticipated 1.16% level in 2020.

Mr. Cook stated total administrative expenses are still running at 6% of the plan which he feels is a more valuable benchmark and to him than the growth in administrative fees. Mr. Locey said in 2021 the GASB 75 expenses will go away; the revenue will be included but with an offsetting revenue. Mr. Snyder said going forward he would prefer not to have those expenses included in the budget as a pass-through. Ms. Dowd said the actuarial contract will be reviewed this year and these comments can be considered at that time.

Mr. Barber commented on the document showing the Consortium's historical fees and said there were many years where the Consortium was operating very lean with very little overhead. The Board recognized that and made significant changes in 2019 to respond to its growth and to improve the Consortium's operations. He thinks the Consortium is now where it should be going forward. Mr. Locey said there are a couple of lines that need further clarification and work. He will continue to work on these and present a revised document at the next meeting.

Financial Report

Mr. Locey distributed preliminary financial results for 2019 and stated overall revenue was below budget for revenue by 1.6% of which most was attributed to lower premium income. Interest income was \$430,000 year-to-date which is more than double what was expected. He said prescription drug rebates were below budget by 7.19%; however, prescription drug expenses were lower than budgeted. Medical claims were approximately 11% below budget. Mr. Locey said the Consortium had \$4.56 million net income for 2019. At the end of 2019 the Catastrophic Claims Reserve was at \$2.8 million; in January it will be revised to reflect \$4.5 million. The unencumbered fund balance is slightly over \$17 million.

Mr. Snyder questioned the Advanced Deposit of pre-paid claims amount on the spreadsheet and asked where the highlighted number came from. Ms. Dowd said it was included in an Excellus claims fee that the Consortium was recently made aware of. Mr. Locey will look into this and provide more information to Mr. Snyder.

Mr. Locey distributed information on large losses for 2019 and said there were no large losses since he reported at the last meeting. He said of all premium paid in, 49% was been paid back in claims.

Accounts Receivable

Mr. Snyder provided a report on accounts receivable. He said the Tompkins County, Cortland County, and the State of New York advanced TC3 a large sum of funds to assist the College in paying some of its bills of which included health insurance premiums.

RESOLUTION NO. – 2020 - ESTABLISHING POLICIES AND PROCEDURES FOR THE CATASTROPHIC CLAIM RESERVE POLICY

Mr. Cook said at the last meeting there was discussion and agreement by members to increase the Catastrophic Claims Reserve to \$4.5 million and this resolution outlines how those funds would be utilized.

It was MOVED by Mr. Salton, seconded by Ms. Hersey, and unanimously adopted by voice vote by members present.

WHEREAS, the Greater Tompkins County Municipal Health Insurance Consortium ("GTCMHIC") has been issued a Certificate of Authority to operate as a New York State Insurance Law Article 47 Municipal Cooperative Health Benefit Plan, and

WHEREAS, Section 4707(a)(2) of the New York State Insurance Law requires the GTCMHIC to purchase "specific stop-loss coverage with a specific retention amount or attachment point not greater than four percent of the amount certified by a qualified actuary to represent the plan's expected claims for the current fiscal year", and

WHEREAS, four (4) percent of the GTCMHIC's expected claims for the 2020 Fiscal Year equals approximately \$2,048,000 (\$51,200,0000 in expected claims x .04), and

WHEREAS, the GTCMHIC Board of Directors issued a Request for Quote (RFQ) to licensed, reputable insurance carriers seeking quotes for specific stop-loss insurance at various deductible levels and with certain required coverage parameters, and

WHEREAS, the GTCMHIC Board of Directors has agreed to purchase specific stop-loss insurance from Excellus BlueCross BlueShield ("Excellus") with a policy period deductible of \$1,000,000 for all covered insured members with the exception of one member who has a separate deductible of \$1,200,000, and

WHEREAS, the GTCMHIC Board of Directors recognizes the purchasing of specific stop-loss insurance at a \$1,000,000 deductible level increases the amount of risk that the Consortium retains as a primarily self-insuring entity, and

WHEREAS, the GTCMHIC maintains a Catastrophic Claims Reserve of \$4,500,000 to help cover large dollar claimant expenses, now therefore be it

RESOLVED, on recommendation of the Audit and Finance Committee, That the GTCMHIC Board of Directors hereby adopts the following policies with respect to the Catastrophic Claims Reserve for the 2020 Fiscal Year:

1. Interest income earned on funds held in the Catastrophic Claims Reserve shall be retained within same, as they are earned.

- 2. The GTCMHIC Treasurer is directed to, on a quarterly basis and within 60 days of the end of said quarter, transfer from the Catastrophic Claims Reserve to the general operating fund of the GTCMHIC a dollar amount equal to any claims paid in excess of \$500,000 but less than \$1,000,000 per member, excepting:
 - a. The one member identified by Excellus as having a separate deductible of \$1,200,000. For this member, funds will be transferred from the Catastrophic Claims Reserve to the general operating fund for any claims incurred above \$500,000 but less than \$1,200,000.
 - b. The foregoing provisions apply only to claims incurred between January 1, 2020 and December 31, 2020 and paid between January 1, 2020 and March 31, 2021.
 - c. This policy shall be reviewed and amended as necessary, on an annual basis in coordination with the GTCMHIC budget process and the purchase of specific stop-loss insurance coverage as required by statute.

* * * * * * * *

Rate Stabilization Reserve Policy

Ms. Dowd said this was put on the agenda as it was part of the proposal on the Stop Loss insurance and not only that the Consortium would change its Catastrophic Claims Reserve but would also increase the Rate Stabilization from 4.5% to 7%. Mr. Locey said this is a philosophical discussion of how the Consortium wants its reserves to work. Up to this point there have been four reserves of which two are statutory and two discretionary. A decision has now been made that one of those discretionary reserves would be part of the mechanics of the Consortium in that if an insured exceeds a certain level of claims that reserve can be tapped into and used as part of the operating cash flow. The discussion relates to whether a policy should be established whereby if projected claims for a particular year are exceeded by a set percent that this reserve could be used to help offset some of those expenses. He suggested there be discussion of whether this reserve would kick in if a set of circumstances were met, how it would be used if that happens, how it would be replenished, and what the target of the reserve would be every year going forward.

Mr. Shattuck said Mr. Locey has done a great forecasting every year and each year there is a four to five percent rate increase but looking out it has always been at a higher rate. He said having a rate stabilization reserve would help manage that so that rates forecasted out would not have to be at an incrementally higher rate because of not knowing what will happen.

Mr. Salton said in order to have a discussion about stabilizing rates there needs to be an understanding of the factors that go into rate increases. Mr. Locey said there are certain things that cannot be predicted but the best thing to do is look at the past. Most groups have a Catastrophic Claims Reserve and a Rate Stabilization Reserve but do not have as extensive and collective set of reserves as the Consortium does. He said it should be kept in mind that with the higher reserve that the Consortium does have saves about a 1% premium rate increase every year because of the interest income being generated. Mrs. Shawley suggested the wording in a policy would have to be as flexible as possible because of the unpredictability of things that would happen. Mr. Locey responded that the Municipal Cooperative Agreement provides great flexibility with the reserves in order to be able to respond to what is happening.

Audit and Finance Committee Minutes January 28, 2020

Mr. Hart sees rate stabilization as protecting against a shock that comes from a need to increase premiums from having a bad year. Another is the need to protect against elected officials as there could be someone who wants to lower the unencumbered fund balance and to return funds to municipalities, and another is if Albany were to order that the IBNR be increased immediately (while the Consortium's IBNR is set at 12%, all other groups are at 17%). He said the bigger the Rate Stabilization Reserve is the better of a position the Consortium would be to respond to any of these situations.

Mr. Cook agreed with Mrs. Shawley and supports the Consortium having the subjective ability to set reserves. He thinks there may be a time in the future where there would need to be objective benchmarks to trigger use of the reserves but does not think the Consortium is at that point yet. Mr. Locey reminded members that the original goal of the Consortium was long-term stable financial results (i.e. premiums that increase at a stable rate); when the fund balance begins to be used to mitigate rate increases that is when problems arise. He said in order to exist for a long time he thinks the Consortium should be prudent with its reserves, take the feelings of municipalities into consideration but keep modest, steady growth to ensure long-term success.

Ms. Drake said it will go to 7.5% for 2020 and Mr. Hart has suggested moving towards 10%. She thinks moving to 10% will cause there to be more pushback from municipalities and without having a definition of how it will be used and replenished needs to be addressed. Mr. Cook suggested working towards developing a statement that includes the risks that are being protected against that can be put in place during the development of the 2021 budget.

Mr. Locey noted that municipalities are paying less than they would be paying other insurance companies and any funds that are not used in those arrangements is kept by the insurance company as profit.

Discussion on this will continue at the next meeting.

Adjournment

The meeting adjourned at 5:00 p.m.

Respectfully submitted by Michelle Cocco, Clerk of the GTCMHIC Board